1956

# Macario Arellano v. The Western Pacific Railroad Co. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Macario Arellano, an illiterate Mexican laborer, is employed by the Western Pacific Railroad Company at its section at Dumphy, Nevada, which is some 23 miles east of Battle Mountain, Nevada. (T-12). The only language which he can speak or understand is Spanish, but he can neither read nor write his native tongue. He cannot speak, read or write English, (T-9, T-103), (T-115), although he does understand certain words as used with relationship to his railroad employment. (T-10). The section crew at Dumphy was a polyglot mixture. It consisted of two Mexicans, Pete Perez and Macario Arellano, and a Puerto Rican named Francisco Matta, none of whom spoke any language but Spanish. (T-13). The other two members of the crew were Indians, Jerry Jackson, who spoke primarily Shoshone dialect and possessed a smattering of knowledge of English, Baul Thompson, who spoke Shoshone and English (T-13), and the Foreman, Enrico Oyva, a Spanish-American who spoke the English language. (T-13). The Roadmaster in charge of the section, whose headquarters were in Elko, Nevada, was Alvid Charlevois, who spoke English but had no knowledge of either Shoshone or Spanish. (T-13, T-137)

On the 31st of March, 1954, Macario Arellano, together with the other members of the section crew, the foreman and the roadmaster, went to a culvert approximately one mile east of the Dumphy section headquarters to dump a load of rock into the culvert. (T-16). The rock was to be used as reinforcement to prevent a possible washout. Upon reaching the culvert, the roadmaster, Charlevois, caused the car to be dumped and in so doing the car was derailed. (T-18). The foreman and Perez were detached from the group to obtain equipment to replace the car on the rails, (T-19), and Charlevois with the four remaining members of the crew undertook to remove the rock from the right of way in order that traffic might be resumed. (T-19, T-139).

At that time the rocks were piled approximately three feet deep at or along the south rail. (T-20, T-21, T-122). The pile extended southerly down the side of the track bed, some of the rocks having fallen into the culvert itself. The crew members commenced to roll the rocks from the top of the pile down the grade, using bars when it was deemed necessary. (T-21).

Charlevois, the roadmaster, assumed active



management and control of the work, (T-139), notwithstanding the fact that two of the four men remaining understood no English, and he understood no Spanish and the other members were Shoshone Indians, only one of whom spoke English and neither spoke Spanish, while Charlevoix possessed no knowledge of the Shoshone dialect. Exhibits 1, 2, 3, and 4 provide a general picture of the area in question. The exhibits show the elevated position of the tracks and provide in addition information as to the nature and extent of the slope that existed from the track to the edge of the culvert, as well as the area immediately south of the culvert. Some orientation of the pictures is necessary. All views of the culvert set forth in exhibits 1, 2, 3, and 4 show the south side of the culvert and the area where the rocks lay. Exhibit 1 is a picture of the culvert facing west and exhibit 4 is a picture of the culvert facing east. Exhibits 2 and 3 are pictures which show substantially the same area and are pictures taken so that the top of the picture would be north, the bottom south, the left hand west toward Battle Mountain, and the right hand east toward Beowane.

Macario Arellano, the appellant, testified that the time of the accident he was standing on the east side of the pile along the top of the pile in an area which he has marked with what would appear to be an "x", rolling stones, (figure 1, exhibit 3), T-21, T-22, T-113). He testified that he worked in that general area for approximately 20 minutes and at the conclusion of said period the roadmaster, Carlevois, directed him to remove a rock on the bottom of the pile which was serving as a dam preventing the rocks from rolling down the hill. At the roadmaster pointed to a particular rock and said "roll that rock". (T-110). That he walked around the east side of the pile where there were no rocks down to the bottom corner of the pile, (figure 2, exhibit 3), to a spot free from rock, and attempted to dislodge the rock the roadmaster had designated. (Figure 3, exhibit 3). At that time he could not move that particular rock but was able to dislodge one immediately adjacent, and he did and turned to throw the rock over the edge, as shown in the exhibits, the pile shifted and commenced to roll down the grade. A rock struck him in the middle of the back and knocked him

er the piling into the immediate vicinity of the  
ack marked area (figure 4, exhibit 3). The  
pellant testified that the other three members  
the crew were on the west side of the pile (T-23),  
d that they were rolling stones in the same manner  
had been rolling stones from the top of the pile  
d in a position of safety and that Charlevois was  
tween him and the other members of the crew and  
a distance of from 12 to 20 feet from Arellano.

Charlevois' version was entirely different. He  
ated, contrary to Arellano, that he, Charlevois,  
s on the east end of the pile and that Arellano  
s on the west end of the pile. (T-139, T-140).

only has a recollection of the whereabouts of  
e appellant. He further testified that Arellano  
s unsteady on his feet and he ordered him by  
lling to get away, and that immediately there-  
ter, Arellano started down the west or left side  
the pile and across the bottom of the pile, at  
ich time he fell from the top of the culvert  
to the rocks below in substantially the same  
ea where Arellano says he fell. (T-140, T-148).

The whereabouts of Matta was unknown at the  
e of trial, although he was allegedly somewhere

Puerto Rico. Of the two remaining witnesses, Jackson was called by the plaintiff. Thompson, a fourth witness, who was at the time of trial still in the employ of the Western Pacific Railroad Company, and in Salt Lake City, was not called as witness by the defendant.

Jackson, one of the Indians, had not seen Arellano from the date of his injury until he saw him in court, and could not have conversed with him when he seen him, by reason of linguistic difficulties. He completely repudiated Charlevois and supported Arellano's testimony in general. He testified that Arellano was on the east side of the pile of falling rocks, which is where Arellano testified he was but which conflicted with Charlevois' version. (T-124). He stated that the other three members of the crew, and Charlevois, were at the west end of the pile, which is where the appellant testified they were. (T-124). He stated that although Charlevois was standing near him, he did not hear Charlevois yell to Arellano or anyone else. That he heard no commotion or statements until he heard someone yell, "The old man fell".

.126). That he looked up and saw Arellano  
ing in almost the exact spot Arellano testified he  
fallen. (T-125, T-126). He stated further he  
worked with Arellano all that day; that he did  
appear to be wobbly on his feet, or ill, which  
contrary to the Charlevoix version. (T-173).  
There is no disagreement that Arellano was injured,  
seriously injured, although there was a con-  
flict as to the extent of the injury. Appellant  
produced testimony that he was permanently in-  
capacitated for work, and again, the only independent  
witness, Miya, verified the position of the appellant's  
physician, namely that Arellano was not capable  
of doing manual work because of the condition of his  
right arm. (T-32). There was no conflict in the  
testimony either that the defendant railroad  
thereafter secured Arellano's resignation by a  
check and a fraud, leading him to believe he was  
receiving a check for groceries when in fact he was  
receiving a resignation. (T-27, T-28), nor is there  
any conflict with the fact that when Arellano was  
advised that he had, in fact, signed a resignation,  
he desired to revoke the same but that the respondent  
railroad would not permit him to go back to work.

It is not denied and therefore must be held  
be admitted that: One of the jurors selected to  
y the above action was a man named Felton Jones,  
o was and is a brother of a Salt Lake City attorney  
med Shirley Jones, Jr. (Sub.Tr.-5). During the noon  
cess of the second day of trial and on Wednesday,  
vember 9, 1955, Shirley Jones Jr. approached Mr.  
wis, one of the defense counsel, in the City and  
unty Building and asked him if the jury was out.  
answer to the statement by Lewis that the case  
s going slowly, Jones stated: "Yes, I know all  
out it, I got a brother that is a juror in  
ere." That he further stated, "It's funny that  
brother gets picked for all these railroad  
ses," and requested a conference with Lewis.  
at they thereafter conversed quietly for a short  
iod of time in tones which the witness could  
hear, although he did hear "That old Mexican."  
b.Tr-5). That the witness subsequently saw  
rley Jones, Jr. at his office. That Jones  
ognized him, stared at him and acted pretty  
vous. (Sub.Tr-6 - 7). Mr. Lewis, one of defense  
nsel, admitted seeing Jones during the trial.

Sub. Tr.-8) and did not deny the conversation above  
set forth. (Sub.Tr-8).

The verdict was a 6-2 verdict in favor of the  
defendant, and one of the subscribing jurors to  
that verdict, and an essential part of that  
verdict, was Felton Jones. This same Jones had  
advised another member of the jury that he had a  
relative who was an attorney and he knew a little  
about the law. This is also the same Jones  
who entered the jury room and assumed the initiative  
in the discussion therein, advised everyone he did  
not believe the respondent's version, that Charlevoix's  
story was "hogwash" but that it was his opinion  
there was no negligence on either side and that the  
verdict should be "no cause for action"

#### ASSIGNMENT OF ERRORS

1. That the court erred in giving its instruction  
number 12.
2. That the court erred in refusing to give  
plaintiff's proposed instruction number 3.
3. That the court erred in refusing to give  
plaintiff's proposed instruction number 2.
4. That the court erred in refusing to give



plaintiff's proposed instructions 1 and 5.

5. That the court erred in refusing to give plaintiff's proposed instruction number 6.

6. That the court erred in refusing to give plaintiff's proposed instructions 13 and 14.

7. That the court erred in refusing to grant appellant a new trial by reason of the misconduct of juror.

# I. THE COURT ERRED IN ITS INSTRUCTION 12

The almost unanimous weight of authority throughout the country is to the effect that a party is entitled to have the court instruct the jury on any theory or theories which he may have advanced which are supported by evidence introduced during the trial. That Utah follows the majority rule in this country is established in Startin v. Jensen, 237 P(2) 834, wherein the court stated:

"The instructions should not be susceptible of misconstruction as either comments on the evidence or arguments for either side of the case. It was the duty of the court to cover the theories of both parties in his instructions."

When a court refuses to instruct upon a theory a party to the trial appeals from such refusal, evidence in support of the theory should be



aken in its strongest light in favor of such request. Young v. Carlson, 276 P(2) 23. Plaintiff requested an instruction on last clear chance which was refused by the trial court. Plaintiff appealed on the sole ground that it was prejudicial error for the trial court to have refused to grant his request. The Court of Appeals, in considering this question, stated:

"It is of course the duty of the court to instruct on every theory of the case finding support in the evidence. Daniels v. San Francisco, 40 Cal. (2) 614, 255 P(2) 785; See also Simmer v. San Francisco, 116 Cal. App.(2) 724; Doran v. San Francisco, 127 Cal.App.(2), 274 P(2) 464. Therefore the basic question is whether, interpreting the evidence most strongly in favor of the appellant, there is any reasonable basis for the application of the last clear chance doctrine. Bolton v. Martin, 126 Cal.App.(2) 178, 271 P(2) 991."

Ten of the appellant's proposed instructions related to his theory of the case based upon the facts at bar, it being appellant's theory: (1) that the respondent had the duty to provide a safe manner or method for doing the work required; that when more than one alternative method was employed, one of which is dangerous, the other of which is safe, that it is negligence of the respondent not to employ the safer way; (3)

that the respondent had the duty not to expose the appellant to any unnecessary risk; (4) that the appellant did not assume the risk of his employment and he was not negligent if he worked in a place of danger pursuant to order; (5) that the respondent was required to take into consideration the servant's age, ignorance and ability to comprehend in issuing orders and that orders must be issued in a manner and fashion that the servant could understand; 6) that a master is held to the knowledge that a servant has a duty to obey orders and that if it gives orders in a fashion which it knows cannot be understood by its servant, it is responsible for injuries sustained by reason of a lack of ability to comprehend.

Instructions were prepared on each of the above theories and presented to the court. The court refused to grant a single, solitary one of them. No instruction was given that covered or purported to cover any of appellant's theory. The only instruction which was given and which would operate in any manner to the right of appellant to recover, was submitted by the respondent and

must be held to cover the respondent's theory of appellant's case. Certainly, it cannot be said to cover any of appellant's theories. This instruction submitted by the respondent was the court's instruction number 12 and was excepted to by the appellant. In giving that instruction, the court withdrew two instructions prepared by it which although inadequate were more acceptable to the appellant. Instruction 12 provides:

"You are instructed that some evidence has been received to the effect that plaintiff was in the act of loosening a stone immediately prior to the time that he was injured. This fact, in and of itself, is not sufficient to prove the defendant was negligent. Before you can find that the defendant was negligent, you must find by a preponderance of the evidence that the defendant in some way directed plaintiff to loosen or remove a stone and that at said time the defendant's roadmaster knew, or in the exercise of reasonable care, should have known, that the removal of said stone would expose plaintiff to an unreasonable risk of harm"

Where, might it be asked, is any reference made to the theory of safe method of work?

Where does the instruction contain any reference to the duty of the employer when more than one method of work, one of which is dangerous, is

available to the employer, who elects the dangerous course?

Where is any reference made to the doctrine of unnecessary risk?

Where does the court purport to instruct relative to the duty of an employer in framing and giving orders?

Obviously the instruction given ignores these questions. It does not purport to cover any theory upon which appellant based his claim of recovery.

The effect of the instruction is to minimize the direct, positive, and unequivocal testimony of the appellant that he was ordered and instructed by the respondent's roadmaster to leave a safe place at the top of the pile where he was rolling stones, and to dislodge a particular stone pointed to by respondent's roadmaster, which was at the bottom of the pile, and that in following orders he was knocked down by a rock which struck him in the back. The instruction deprecates and ignores appellant's theory relating to the direction and control of his acts by the respondent's agent and the testimony relating thereto, and by inference would indicate that

uch testimony and theory on the part of the  
ppellant were of no consequence.

Respondent must be held to have knowledge of  
its own testimony and its own theory. Yet, the  
instruction requested by the respondent and given  
by the court flies squarely in the face of facts  
which the respondent's roadmaster admitted to be  
true, namely that it was dangerous for anyone to  
roll a rock from the bottom of the pile or in any  
way to get in front of the rocks as they were  
being rolled down the slope. Respondent conceded  
these facts to be true and offered the evidence  
itself, yet, nevertheless, the respondent made  
knowledge of these facts a fact to be found by a  
jury preliminary to finding any possible liability.

Finally, it is submitted that Instruction 12  
is erroneous when it made the sole test of lia-  
bility the exposure of the appellant to an un-  
reasonable risk without making any effort to advise  
the jury as to how they should determine what  
reasonable risk was.

II. THE COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO GIVE PLAINTIFF'S PROPOSED INSTRUCTION NUMBER 3 RELATING TO THE DUTY OF THE EMPLOYER TO FURNISH A SAFE PLAN OR METHOD FOR DOING THE WORK REQUIRED

One of the basic theories of appellant was that the respondent railroad as an employer had a duty or obligation to provide a safe method or manner for doing the work required and that if such duty was not met by the respondent, that it was guilty of negligence. It was further appellant's theory that where as here there were alternative methods available and especially where as here, one way was safe and the other known to be dangerous that it was negligence on the part of the employer to use or require the dangerous method to be used.

That obligation, in fact, did rest upon the respondent?

In Fisher v. Minneapolis & S.L. Ry Co., 199 F(2) 3, the plaintiff was a member of a crew engaged in unloading transmission line poles from a flat car. The poles were about 58 feet in length and weighed about 3000 pounds each. While on the cars, the poles were held in place by wires and bands. The plaintiff climbed upon the load and cut the

last of the retaining bands. Not being held, the logs rolled free and in the confusion plaintiff was killed. Plaintiff sued on the theory that a safe method for doing the work had not been employed. The Circuit Court held:

"But it cannot be questioned as to all such operations that a safe method must be adopted and proper direction and efficient tools supplied by anyone who contracts for and undertakes performance...."

In Jefferson v. City of Raleigh, N.C., 140 SE 76

the plaintiff was employed as a laborer. In the course of his duties he was directed to take a ledge and assist the foreman to cut some pile. The foreman held a wedge on the pipe. While engaged in striking the cleaver with the sledge a lever of steel was knocked loose, striking plaintiff in the eye and blinding him. From a judgment for plaintiff, the defendant appealed. The Supreme Court, in affirming the judgment, stated:

"The law of the state is that an employer of labor is required to exercise reasonable care in providing reasonably safe methods of and means to do the work. Thus in Noble v. Lumber Co. 151 NC 76, 65 SE 622 it is said "It is elementary learning that it is the duty of the master to furnish his servant with a reasonably safe method, so far



as practicable, for doing his work."

It cannot be denied that a safe method did in fact exist in the instant case and it had been used.

Again, the court in A.T. & SF Ry Co. v. Gruder, 213 F(2) 250 had before it a similar problem. Plaintiff was injured while unloading a car of the defendant. Pipe was loaded in a car built for carrying ice and perishables. The work was done by plaintiff, a brakeman, and a head brakeman. To unload, plaintiff took the forward end of a bundle and carried it to the rear corner of the car for the purpose of shortening the overlap beyond the doorway. In order to get his end of pipe through the door, he was obligated to lift the bundle to a position well over his head while the other man held the rear end close to the door. In the exercise of twisting to accomplish task, plaintiff suffered injury to his back.

The court found:

"The theory of the suit is that the carrier was negligent in causing heavy pipe of such length to be placed in a car of the character and dimensions of the reefer, rather than in a flat car, or a gondola, or a box car; and



that appellee sustained his injury in consequence thereof.

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