1956

Macario Arellano v. The Western Pacific Railroad Co. : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

In *Bowden v. D. & R. G. Western Railroad Company*, 3 Utah 2d 444, 286 P. 2d 240, the Utah Supreme Court sustained an instruction given by the lower court which in substance and effect was similar to Instruction No. 12, particularly with reference to the necessity of finding that the defendant railroad knew or should have known that a condition was unsafe before it could be held negligent. The instruction was as follows:

“In order to find that the railroad was negligent in failing to provide a safe place to work in this case, you must find by a preponderance of the evidence that

“(1) The railroad knew, or by the exercise of reasonable care, should have known that there was snow or other substance near the tracks at the point of the accident, which snow or substance created a situation which was not a reasonably safe place for railroad workers to work; * * *.”

II.

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO GIVE APPELLANT'S REQUESTED INSTRUCTION NO. 3.

Appellant's proposed Instruction No. 3 is as follows:

“You are instructed that the defendant had a statutory duty to provide its employees, including the plaintiff, with a safe place in which to work. This duty on the part of the defendant includes within its meaning the duty to provide its employees a reasonably safe manner and place for doing the work, and it is required to exercise reasonable care to provide such a plan. If the defendant failed to

exercise reasonable care to provide a reasonably safe manner and place to do the work required by it, then defendant is guilty of negligence.”

In support of its contention, Appellant cites the following cases:

In *Fisher v. Minn and S. L. Railroad Company*, 199 F. 2d 308, the court held that plaintiff’s husband, who was killed when he cut poles loose from a loaded railroad car, could not recover because his own negligence in performing the work was, as a matter of law, the sole proximate cause of his death. The safe method referred to in the quotes at page 17 of Appellant’s brief applies to the deceased’s conduct which the court held as a matter of law was negligent.

In *Jefferson v. City of Raleigh, North Carolina*, 140 S. E. 76, 194 N. C. 479 (1927), there is very little reference to the facts in the case. Apparently it involved the question of whether or not the defendant was negligent in failing to provide the plaintiff with goggles and the failure to provide a shield or hood on a machine involved. The court submitted the issue to the jury, saying:

“It was the duty of the defendant in the exercise of ordinary care to provide its servants and employees with reasonably safe places and safe tools and appliances to work with, and to provide them with reasonably safe methods and means to do the work for which they are employed and in which they are engaged.”

We fail to see how these facts in any way relate to the facts in the instant case, or to Instruction No. 3.

In *A. T. & S. F. Railroad Company v. Struder*, 213 F. 2d 250, the court simply held that it was a jury question as

to whether or not it was negligent to provide a refrigerator car for hauling long lengths of galvanized pipe instead of a car from which the pipe could be more easily unloaded. There were no instructions involved. The case is of no help in this situation.

In *Cahn v. S. P. Company*, 282 P. 2d 78, 132 Cal. App. 410, plaintiff allegedly sustained an eye injury when a heavy coupler fell from a pile of couplers onto the cement where he was working causing a particle of cement to strike his eye, dislodging the retina. The court did not discuss instructions but merely held that from such evidence the jury could find the railroad negligent in failing to provide plaintiff with a safe place to work.

In *Joy v. Pope*, 53 P. 2d 683, 175 Okla. 540, and in *Enid Transfer and Storage Company v. Mollenhauer*, 251 P. 2d 1068, 207 Okla. 654, neither the facts nor the law are analogous or helpful in the instant case. In the *Pope* case, the allegation of the complaint was as follows:

“ ‘Plaintiff alleges that the machinery and appliances hereinabove described and the construction and operation thereof, in the manner herein alleged, was highly dangerous, and which danger was not known to plaintiff’s decedent, and could not by the exercise of ordinary care have been ascertained by him * * * and said defendant was guilty and negligent in the maintenance and operation of the machinery and appliances as herein alleged; that the construction and operation of such machinery and appliances, in the method and manner herein alleged, constituted the same highly dangerous, and said defendant wholly failed in its duty to plaintiff’s decedent as hereinabove set out.’ ”

In the *Enid* case *supra* the plaintiffs plead failure to furnish: (1) A safe place to work. (2) A safe method to do the work. (3) Safe tools. (4) Competent and safe co-workers.

The court in sustaining a verdict returned for the plaintiff in the lower court did not consider instructions but only considered the question of whether there was sufficient evidence to take the case to the jury. The most the two foregoing cases contribute are generalities with which we do not disagree, such as stated in the *Enid* case as follows:

“The duty of furnishing a reasonably safe place in which to work, reasonably safe appliances with which to perform the work, and reasonably careful, prudent, and competent fellow servants, is a non-delegable duty of the employer.”

In *August v. Texas and N. O. R. Co.*, 265 S. W. 2d 148, (Texas Appellate), the trial court directed a verdict for the defendant. The Texas Appellate Court sustained. There was no discussion in the case regarding instructions. The court simply held, as quoted in plaintiff's brief, that the Railroad had a duty to provide a reasonably safe place and method of doing work. We find nothing in this case with which we can disagree.

In *Millett v. Maine Cent. R. Co.*, 146 Atl. 903, 128 Me. 316, the plaintiff was injured by a flying spark while working near a field fire. His job was to keep the fire from spreading. At the time of injury he was walking near the fire with a bucket of water and broom. The plaintiff claimed this was a negligent method of doing the work. The lower court, however, could find no evidence of negli-

gence and refused to permit the case to go to the jury. The Maine Court in sustaining the action of the lower court said at page 904:

“Plaintiff had the burden to adduce reasonable evidence which would tend to show, primarily, a breach of duty owed to him in respect to the method of doing the work. Negligence may not be found from the mere happening of an accident.

* * * *

“There is no evidence that the method employed was not common and usual in the occupation.”

There was no evidence in the instant case that defendant failed to supply plaintiff with a reasonable safe place to work or method of working except as testified by plaintiff. The action which he outlined related to place of work. This situation was completely covered by the court's instructions, particularly Instruction No. 12. Any further instruction on method of work would not have assisted the jury. Particularly is this so considering Appellant's failure to introduce any evidence relative to an alternative method of doing the work.

III.

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO GIVE APPELLANT'S REQUESTED IN- STRUCTION NO. 2.

Appellant's requested Instruction No. 2 is very similar to the requested Instruction No. 3. The argument under point II is equally applicable to the instruction here considered.

The Appellant has cited the following cases in support of his contention under Point III. These cases are as follows: *Boston & M. R. R. v. Meech*, 1 Cir. 156 F. 2d 109; *Stone v. New York, C. & St. L. R. Co.*, 344 U. S. 407, 97 L. Ed. 441, 73 Sup. Ct. 358; *Chicago, Rock Island & Pacific Railroad Co. v. Wright*, 278 P. 2d 830, (Oklahoma) ; *Huskey v. Heine Safety Boiler Co.*, 181 S. W. 1041, 192 Mo. App. 370; *Brown v. Coley*, 152 So. 61, 168 Miss. 778; *E. J O'Brien & Co. v. Shelton's Adm'r.*, 55 S. W. 2d 352, 246 Ky. 537.

In the *Meech* case *supra* the court did not consider anything more than the sufficiency of the evidence to take the case to the jury. The court made general statements relative to the duty to provide a safe place to work, which are of very little assistance in the instant case. In the *Rock Island* case *supra* the plaintiff in his pleadings alleged negligence in the following particulars:

1. Failure to provide plaintiff with a safe place to work.
2. Failure to provide a reasonable safe manner or plan for doing the work.
3. Failure to provide adequate tools.
4. Failure to provide sufficient help.

Evidence was introduced in support of all the above and particularly in support of the allegation that defendant did not provide plaintiff with a reasonable safe manner or plan for doing the work. In this respect plaintiff produced evidence showing that the method employed in moving the rail was improper, and introduced evidence showing a proper method of doing the work. The court found suffi-

cient evidence to support the allegations and submitted the case to the jury. The court did not discuss instructions.

In the *Huskey* case *supra* plaintiff introduced evidence showing two ways of doing the work, one of which was clearly unnecessary and unreasonable. The court, as cited at page 27 of Appellant's brief, said:

“If two ways are open to a person to use, one safe and the other dangerous, the choice of the dangerous way with knowledge of the danger constitutes negligence.”

In the *Huskey* case *supra* there was no discussion of instructions. It was again simply a question of whether or not there was sufficient evidence to take the case to the jury. We believe that the finding of the court was proper, but in no way helpful in determining the issues before this court.

In the *Brown* case *supra* the plaintiff was a laborer who received burns when he poured gasoline from a bucket into a small opening in a tank without using a funnel, and while the motor was running. The lower court permitted the case to go to the jury and the Supreme Court of Mississippi reversed holding that there was not sufficient evidence. The court said:

“‘If the work is simple in character and free from complexities, the master is under no obligation to adopt rules. In other words, where the danger is apparent to all, and the duty of the servants to avoid such danger is manifest, no rules are required.’ See also, *Reed v. Ridout's Ambulance*, 212 Ala. 428, 433, 102 So. 906.

“The attempt of the servant without the use of a funnel to pour gasoline out of a bucket into a small hole in the tank, near the electrical equipment of the engine while the engine was running was an act which, to any sensible, adult person acquainted with the volatile and highly inflammatory character of gasoline, would be known to be a dangerous method, it would be obvious. *The servant admits that he knew this; and it seems to us that it is such a fact as would not involve any complexity or uncertainty or obscurity to a person who had ever worked around gasoline motors as the servant admits he had done, not only in this service but in previous experience.* Moreover, the handling and use of gasoline have become so general, so much a part of the daily observation and experience of all adult persons, so much a matter of conscious knowledge to all of mature age who will open their eyes, that there could be no well grounded basis of justice now to hold that its use, in the manner shown in this case, involves that which is either complex or uncertain or obscure.”

This case in no way supports Appellant's position. If anything, it argues against it.

In the *Stone* case *supra* the United States Supreme Court by a split court reversed the decision of the Missouri Supreme Court which held that there was not sufficient evidence of negligence or causation to take the case to the jury. The facts were that plaintiff, a section laborer, claimed he injured his back while pulling a tie from under a rail. Evidence was introduced *showing other methods of removing* the tie and also evidence that at the time plaintiff was injured the section foreman urged him to pull harder and it was while he was pulling harder that he injured his

back. Evidence was also introduced showing that it required additional men to finally move the tie. The case did not involve an instruction, but again simply involved a question of whether or not there was sufficient evidence to go to the jury. The Missouri Supreme Court felt that there was not sufficient evidence and three of the United States Supreme Court Justices agreed. However, the majority of the United States Supreme Court Justices agreed with Justice Douglas and held that the evidence was sufficient. How this case can possibly assist the court in determining the question involving failure to give certain instructions is beyond our comprehension.

IV.

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN FAILING TO SPECIFICALLY INSTRUCT, AS REQUESTED BY APPELLANT, THAT AN EMPLOYER IS GUILTY OF NEGLIGENCE IF IT EXPOSES ITS EMPLOYEE TO AN UNNECESSARY RISK, AND THAT SUCH DUTY CANNOT BE DELEGATED.

We clearly understand that an employer has a duty to provide employees with a safe place to work, which of course, means that the employer should not expose the plaintiff to unnecessary risks. Appellant has cited some case law wherein courts have held that the evidence introduced was sufficient to permit a jury finding on this issue. Such cases do not help in determining whether the court erred in failing to give Appellant's requested Instructions Nos. 1 to 5.

Appellant's requested Instruction No. 1 is in effect the same as the court's Instruction No. 12 which is patterned after the instruction given in the *Bowden* case *supra*, wherein the court approved an instruction to the effect that the employer is not negligent unless he knew or should have known that the situation or place where the employee was working exposed the employee to unreasonable risk of harm. Unreasonable risk of harm is simply another way of saying unnecessary risk.

As herein stated the requested Instruction No. 2 relates to a safe method of doing the work. Appellant claims that he was ordered to remove a rock. Defendant denied this and produced evidence that Appellant was standing at the edge of the rock pile, and was directed to move out of the way. The court in its Instruction No. 12 told the jury that if they believed the Appellant's story then the Railroad was liable, *if the Railroad knew or should have known that requiring Appellant to remove a stone, as claimed*, exposed him to an unreasonable risk of harm. An instruction which would permit the jury to speculate about alternative methods of doing the work would have been improper.

Appellant's requested Instruction No. 3 relates to "a safe plan of work." The Appellant introduced no evidence showing that the plan of work employed by the respondent was unreasonable or that some other plan should have been adopted. The only evidence in the case, as herein stated, was whether the Appellant was moving a rock on direction of the roadmaster or was standing on the outside edge of the rocks and when directed to move slipped and fell. Permit-

ting the jury to speculate about "a plan of work," would concern the jury with an irrelevant issue without evidence upon which it could make a finding.

It is true that the respondent introduced some evidence to the effect that the crew were advised when they were at the tool house prior to the time they commenced the work that they should keep behind the rocks and work from the rail outward. The Appellant denied that such a conversation took place.

In *Brown v. Coley*, *supra*, cited by Appellant, the Mississippi Supreme Court held that "if the work is simple in character, the master is under no obligation to adopt rules." Certainly moving rocks is simple. Must the railroad devise rules and plans for such work, or is it permissible to assume that employees are able to do such tasks on their own?

Appellant's requested Instruction No. 4 relates to safe and efficient tools. No evidence was introduced which in any way indicated that the Appellant was not supplied with such tools. The only evidence on this question relates to a bar which was supplied to the Appellant and which Appellant testified he laid on the ground prior to the time he reached for a stone as directed by the roadmaster. The Appellant introduced no evidence showing that a bar was not a proper tool, and introduced no evidence showing that other tools would have been proper under the circumstances. To permit the jury to speculate without evidence on this issue would have been error.

We have considered Appellant's requested Instruction No. 4 because Appellant has discussed it in his brief. Actually it is not properly before the court. The Appellant

took no exception to the court's failure to give it at the time he took his exception to the court's instructions.

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